ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 10 1999

Petitioner,

v.

96,234 Case No.

DCA Case No. 1998-165

STATE OF FLORIDA,

STEVE LAMONT JOHNSON,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

GLENNA JOYCE REEVES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0231061 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Steve Lamont Johnson, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal, First District. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority in the trial court and appellee in the District Court. The parties will be referred to herein as they appear before this Court.

The opinion of the First District Court is reported in <u>Johnson</u> v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1138 (Fla. 1st DCA May 5, 1999), and is attached as an appendix. The appendix will be referred to as "A", followed by the appropriate page number, both in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF TYPE STYLE

This brief was typed in Courier New, 12 point.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Among other things, petitioner was charged with and convicted of causing bodily injury during the commission of a felony, to wit: burglary. (A-1). He contended on appeal that since the convenience store was open to the public at the time of the robbers' entry, the evidence failed to establish that a burglary occurred. (A-2-3).

Acknowledging this Court's opinion in Miller v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S155 (Fla. April 1, 1999) (A-16), the District Court noted that there is a complete defense to a burglary charge if the premises were open to the public. (A-3). The District Court affirmed the conviction, however, based upon the conclusion that the area "behind the cash-register counter" was not an area open to the public.²

In his motion for rehearing, petitioner argued that the court's rationale [that the check-out counter area within the open store was non-public] had been expressly rejected by this Court in State v. Butler, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999). (A-5, A-7). Without discussion, the District Court denied rehearing. (A-13).

Petitioner timely filed his Notice to Invoke. (A-14-15).

¹ The commission of a burglary was an essential element of the crime of causing bodily injury the commission of a felony.

 $^{^2}$ According to the District Court, one of the store owners had instructed petitioner not to go behind the check-out counter. (A-2).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's conviction for causing bodily injury during the commission of a felony, to wit: burglary, was affirmed although the undisputed evidence showed the premises allegedly burglarized — the convenience store — was open to the public at the time of the entry. The District Court's affirmance was based upon the rationale that the area by the cash register was not open to the public. Jurisdiction should be accepted since the District Court's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with State v. Butler, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999), and State v. Laster, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999), as well as Miller v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S155 (Fla. April 1, 1999).

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE OPINION IN JOHNSON V. STATE, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1138 (Fla. 1st DCA May 5, 1999), EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN MILLER V. STATE, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S155 (Fla. April 1, 1999); STATE V. BUTLER, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999); AND STATE V. LASTER, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999).

In its opinion, the lower court affirmed petitioner's conviction for causing bodily injury during the commission of a felony, to wit: burglary, although the evidence was undisputed that the convenience store where the offense occurred was open to the public at the time of petitioner's entry into the store. (A-2-3). The lower court acknowledged this Court's holding in Miller v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S155 (Fla. April 1, 1999) (A-16), that "if a defendant can establish that the premises were open to the public, then this is a complete defense" to a burglary charge. (A-3). The lower court sought to distinguish Miller, however, by concluding that the "check-out counter" or the "cash-register counter" was not an area open to the public. (A-2, A-3). By attempting to draw this distinction, the opinion below conflicts with State v. Butler, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999) (A-18), and State v. Laster, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999) (A-18), as well as Miller v. State, itself.

In <u>Miller v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held that being "open to the public" is a complete defense to burglary. This Court held that "[t]he only relevant question is whether the premises were open to

the public at the time the defendant entered or remained with the intent to commit an offense therein." Miller v. State, supra at S516. The Court further noted that

Whether or not consent may have been withdrawn, either by direct or circumstantial evidence, is not an issue.

(Emphasis supplied).

In the present case, the premises petitioner was alleged to have burglarized -- the convenience store -- was open to the public at the time petitioner entered with the intent to commit robbery. The lower court acknowledged this:

[A]ppellant and his co-defendant ... entered a convenience store that was open for business.

(A-2).

It is undisputed that in the instant case the store was open to the public when appellant entered.

(A-3). Under Miller, the complete defense was thus established. Whether consent to enter a portion of the store may have been withdrawn by the "other store owner's command" (A-2) is irrelevant.

In <u>State v. Butler</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court affirmed the lower court's ruling that

the trial judge should have granted his motion for judgment of acquittal on the burglary charge because the only evidence at trial concerning the convenience store at the time of his entry was that it was open to the public, and that one entering the premises under such circumstances cannot be convicted of burglary. Butler v. State, 711 So.2d 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). Further, this Court specifically held:

We do not find any merit to the state's argument in this case that the area behind the counter was not open to the public.

State v. Butler, supra. This Court held likewise in State v. Laster, supra. The decision of the lower court specifically conflicts with State v. Butler, supra, and State v. Laster, supra, in this regard.

As in <u>Butler</u> and <u>Laster</u>, the convenience store petitioner was alleged to have burglarized was open to the public at the time of his entry. The lower court cannot, consistent with <u>Butler</u> and <u>Laster</u>, characterize the check-out counter area as a non-public area within the otherwise "open to the public" store. Nor can the court define the check-out counter area as premises separate from the store itself. To quote <u>Miller v. State</u>:

[P]remises are either open to the public or they are not.

The premises petitioner was alleged to have burglarized -- the convenience store -- was open to the public at the time of his entry. Under Miller, Butler and Laster, these facts establish a complete defense to the burglary charge. The District Court's holding to the contrary must be reversed.

³ <u>Dakes v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 939 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), can be readily distinguished since the storeroom within the store could be classified as a separate building.

CONCLUSION

Because the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of this Court, jurisdiction should be accepted and the decision in <u>Johnson v. State</u> should be quashed.