ORIGINAL



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 27 1999

CLERK, SUPPORT GURT

96,234

CASE NO.

STEVE LAMONT JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

L. MICHAEL BILLMEIER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0983802

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal ("First District") and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Steve Lamont Johnson, the Appellant in the First District and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State rejects Petitioner's statement of the facts. Petitioner's statement of the facts cites portions of the record not discussed in the opinion below, such as arguments made in his motion for rehearing. (PJB at 2). This Court has stated that it is "pointless and misleading to include a comprehensive recitation of the facts not appearing in the decision below, with citations to the record, as petitioner provided here." <u>Reaves v.</u> <u>State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 n. 3 (Fla. 1986). As Petitioner has provided exactly the same kind of pointless recitation of the facts in his brief, the State rejects Petitioner's statement,

- 1 -

urges this Court to reject it, and submits the following statement of the facts.

The relevant facts are set out in the First District's opinion, <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1138 (Fla. 1st DCA May 5, 1999), attached as Appendix A. The First District recited the relevant facts of Petitioner's crimes:

In need of bail money for his girlfriend, appellant and his co-defendant, with masked faces and guns drawn, entered a convenience store that was open for business. While holding a gun on Mr. Goswami, one of the store owners, appellant followed him behind the check-out counter where the cash register was located, heedless of the other store owner's command that appellant was not permitted in that area. After appellant entered the prohibited area, he turned and fired twice at Mrs. Goswami, wounding her hand. Mr. Goswami immediately began to struggle with appellant's co-felon, and when appellant began striking her husband, Mrs. Goswami fought with appellant. During the fray, Mrs. Goswami obtained the gun she and her husband kept in their shop. Having armed herself, she held the gun on appellant, told the two perpetrators to leave her husband alone, and shot appellant's cohort.

Johnson, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at D1139.

Petitioner was convicted of attempted armed robbery while wearing a mask, attempted second degree murder, and causing bodily injury during the commission of a felony, specifically burglary. Johnson, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at D1138. Petitioner argued that his conviction for causing bodily injury during the commission of a burglary should be reversed because the State did not prove a burglary occurred because the convenience store was open to the public when the entry took place. <u>Id</u>. at D1138-1139. The First District rejected Petitioner's argument:

We recognize that the supreme court has recently held that "if a defendant can establish that the premises were open to the public, then this is a complete defense" to a burglary charge. Miller v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S155 (Fla. April 1, 1999). Ιt is undisputed that in the instant case the store was open to the public when appellant entered. The area behind the cash-register counter was not, however, an area open to the public. This point was clearly made to appellant by an owner of the store before appellant forced the other owner to the cash register at gunpoint and followed him into the prohibited area. We thus affirm appellant's conviction for causing bodily injury during the commission of a burglary. See Dakes v. <u>State</u>, 545 So. 2d 939, 940 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)("We hold that although the store itself was open to the public, the closed storeroom to which access was clearly restricted was not part of the premises open to the public, within the scope of section 810.02."); Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, Burglary § 810.02 (July 1997).

<u>Id</u>. at D1139.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District's opinion in this case follows wellestablished law and holds that a defendant can be convicted of burglary if he or she enters an area of a business that is not open to the public with the intent to commit an offense. Here, Petitioner entered an area of the business that he was specifically told by the owner not to enter with the intent to commit a crime so the State proved burglary. Nothing in <u>Miller</u>, <u>Laster</u>, and <u>Butler</u> indicate that the defendants in those cases entered areas of the business that were not open to the public. Accordingly, there is no conflict between those decisions and the decision here. This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

<u>ISSUE</u>

WHETHER THERE IS EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND MILLER V. STATE, 733 SO. 2D 955 (FLA. 1998), <u>STATE V. LASTER</u>, 24 FLA. L. WEEKLY S203 (FLA. APRIL 29, 1999), AND <u>STATE V. BUTLER</u>, 24 FLA. L. WEEKLY S203 (FLA. APRIL 29, 1999)? (Restated)

There is no conflict between this case and this Court's decisions in <u>Miller v. State</u>, 733 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1998), <u>State v. Laster</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999), and <u>State v. Butler</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S203 (Fla. April 29, 1999). In this case, the First District applied well-established law that allows a business owner to designate which areas of the establishment are open to the public and held that the area of the store in which Petitioner entered was not open to the public. <u>Miller</u>, <u>Laster</u>, and <u>Butler</u> did nothing to change that law. Business owners are still permitted to designate areas of their stores that the public cannot enter. If criminals enter or remain in that area with the intent to commit an offense, they can properly be convicted of burglary. There is no conflict between these cases so this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a

- 5 -

decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Here, there is no conflict between the decisions.

In Johnson, the First District held that the State had proved burglary because the area behind the counter was not an area open to the public. Johnson, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at D1139. Here, when Petitioner attempted to go behind the counter, he was specifically told that he could not go there. Id. Accordingly, the First District held that the area was not open to the public since Petitioner was told he could not go there and affirmed the burglary conviction. Id. The court relied on Dakes v. State, 545 So. 2d 939, 940 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), where the Third District affirmed a burglary conviction after Dakes entered a storeroom of a retail store during business hours and attempted to steal several hundred dollars worth of merchandise. The Dakes court explained that although the store was open to the public, the storeroom was clearly marked "authorized personal only." Dakes, 545 So. 2d at 940. Here, like <u>Dakes</u>, Petitioner was specifically told that he could not go behind the counter. The First District's opinion simply follows Dakes.

This Court implicitly approved <u>Dakes</u> when it approved the following language in the standard jury instruction on burglary:

A person may be guilty of this offense ... if he or she entered into or remained **in areas of the premises**

-6-

which he or she knew or should have known were not open to the public.

Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 697 So. 2d 84, 90

(Fla. 1997). (emphasis added).

The comment to this instruction explained:

The committee believes that the additional language is necessary in certain factual situations. <u>See Dakes v.</u> <u>State</u>, 545 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

<u>Id</u>. at 90-91.

The First District in <u>Johnson</u> did nothing more than follow wellestablished law and hold that business owners can designate areas of their business that the public cannot enter. The Third District recently followed <u>Dakes</u> and reached a similar result. <u>See Thomas v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1760 (Fla. 3d DCA July 28, 1999) (explaining that <u>Miller</u> only applies if the area where the burglary takes place is open to the public). Nothing in the cases cited by Petitioner changed this law.

In <u>Miller</u>, this Court held that if a defendant can establish that the premises are open to the public, it is a complete defense to burglary. <u>Miller</u>, 733 So. 2d at 957. In <u>Miller</u>, there was no indication that any part of the store was not open to the public. Here, Petitioner was specifically told not to go behind the counter. <u>Johnson</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at D1139. <u>Miller</u> did not address a situation, like here, where the defendant was specifically told that he could not go behind the counter. Under Petitioner's interpretation of <u>Miller</u>, if any part of the premises is open to the public, the entire premises is open to the public. Such an interpretation is absurd. Certainly this

- 7 -

Court did not intend in <u>Miller</u> to prohibit businesses from designating which areas are open to the public and which areas are not. This case and <u>Miller</u> do not conflict.

In Laster and Butler, this Court rejected the State's argument that the area behind the counter was not open to the public in those cases. Laster, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S203-S204; <u>Butler</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S203. Once again, those cases do not mention whether or not the defendants had been told that they could not go behind the counter. <u>Laster</u> and <u>Butler</u> were specifically limited to their facts. Each case said, "We do not find any merit to the State's argument **in this case** that the area behind the counter was not open to the public." <u>Butler</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S203; <u>Laster</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S204. (emphasis added). Like <u>Miller</u>, <u>Laster</u> and <u>Butler</u> do not prohibit business from designating areas that are closed to the public. Those cases do not conflict with <u>Johnson</u>.

There is no conflict between the First District's opinion in <u>Johnson</u> and this Court's opinions in <u>Miller</u>, <u>Butler</u>, and <u>Laster</u>. This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction.

- 8 -

CONCLUSION

٠

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction.